
 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 1 of 8 
 

 

 
 

Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 
Swanzey Planning Board 

Meeting Minutes – November 14, 2013 
 

Note:  Draft Minutes are subject to review, correction and approval by the Board. Review and approval of Minutes 
generally takes place at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 

 

The regular meeting of the Swanzey Planning Board was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Chair Glenn 
Page.  Members present:  Scott Self, June Fuerderer, Jeff Goller, Alternate Don Skiba, Alternate Jane 
Johnson, and Selectmen’s Representative Ken Colby. The roll call and agenda for the meeting was read 
by Chair Page. Page seated Skiba for Smith. Gus Lerandeau arrived at 6:23 p.m. 
 

Absent:  Joe Smith 
 
Others Present:  Director of Planning and Community Development Sara Carbonneau, Town Counsel 
Gary Kinyon, Public Works Director Lee Dunham, Fire Chief Norm Skantze, Police Chief Tom DeAngelis 
and various residents of the public. Representatives for Zaremba Program Development LLC present 
were Attorney Silas Little, Matt Casey, and Tony Basso. Megan Foley from the Keene Sentinel was also 
present. 
 
Minutes:  Minutes from October 24, 2013 were reviewed. Motion was made by Fuerderer to accept the 
minutes. The motion was seconded by Colby.  All were in favor. Motion passed. 
 
Regional Impact: Board members considered whether any items on the agenda could be construed as 
having the potential for regional impact. Motion made by Fuerderer that no items on the agenda could 
be reasonably construed as having the potential for regional impact. Second by Self, no further 
discussion, and all were in favor of the motion. Motion passed. 
 
Note:  Chair Page informed the attendees that there would be a short recess prior to the Zaremba Site 
Plan Review for conference with Town Attorney Gary Kinyon. 
 
A.  PUBLIC HEARINGS - 
 

1. New-Tenant Application  
Rosa Mystica, LLC (Antonio Benedetto Antonucci) wishes to use the premises situated at 471 Old 
Homestead Highway for a restaurant and associated gift shop.  The property is shown at Tax 
Map 34, Lot 32 situated in the Business District.  The property is owned by the City of Keene.  
Public hearing opened. 
 
Antonucci was present to represent Mystical Rose LLC. The building is the former Alps 
restaurant.  No abutters were present.  Page asked if there would be structural changes to the 
building. Antonucci said the lease has yet to be approved, but the expectation is to use a small 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 2 of 8 
 

area for the gift shop which will consist of food and pottery from local people. This gift shop 
area will require a wall at the end of it to separate it from the waitress station. Page informed 
Antonucci that any structural change will require a building permit.  Skiba asked what kind of 
food will be served. Antonucci said it will be an Italian eatery – southern Italian food. Page asked 
for questions or concerns. Johnson excused herself saying her husband represents the City of 
Keene with the leasing arrangements with Antonucci.  When asked about the Mini golf and go-
carts in the area, Antonucci said it was his understanding that they will continue to operate 
during the summer time. 

 
 

a. Freestanding and Attached Sign Permit Applications 
Rosa Mystica, LLC seeks permission to installed a 13 s.f. free-standing sign and two 
attached signs (one 20 s.f., the other 12 s.f.) at property shown at Tax Map 34, Lot 32 
situated in the Business District. Antonucci said the sign will be mounted in the peak of 
the building with one light that shines on it.  He would like to put two lights (double 
fixtures) on the sign since the area is dark.  And he added he would like two lights to 
shine down onto the entrance way and two lights will shine on the walkway. Page told 
Antonucci that the lights cannot shine down onto Route 32. Colby said that the lights 
cannot also shine toward the airport runways.  
 
Antonucci asked about the location of a sign at the end of the driveway, fifteen feet 
from the edge of the road.  Page said the sign has to be 20 feet back from the edge of 
the property.  Antonucci said The Dinner Table has a sign that is closer and Page said 
that the sign was grandfathered for use.  Campy’s restaurant was operating at The 
Dinner Table site for a number of years, and the sign was used continuously.  Self said 
that Antonucci could apply to the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a variance for the 
sign.  When asked about landscaping, Page said there would be no objection to 
landscaping the property. Antonucci asked about whether flashing lights for use during 
Christmas would be acceptable.  Page said so long as the lights are temporary, it is 
acceptable. 
 
Public hearing  closed. 
 
Motion by Skiba to approve the use of the premises at 471 Old Homestead Highway for 
a restaurant and associated gift shop and approve two signs attached to the building 
one 20 square feet and the other 12 square feet, and a free-standing 13 square foot sign 
to be erected 20 feet back from the edge of the property where it meets the road, 
second by Colby, no further discussion.  All were in favor. Motion passed. 
 

2. Boundary Line Adjustment Application  
Boundary line adjustment application between Tax Map 31, Lots 26 & 27.  Both lots are owned 
by Arnie Filipi.  The boundary line adjustment seeks to increase the acreage of Map 31, Lot 27 
(resulting in a 4.25 acre lot) and decrease the acreage of Map 31, Lot 26 (resulting in a 1.45 acre 
lot).  The properties are situated off Old Homestead Highway and located in the Residence 
District.   Public hearing opened. 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 3 of 8 
 

 
Arnie Filipi explained to the Planning Board the way the lots are currently divided.  He said he 
wishes to change the lot boundary to accommodate another septic site, as one of the lots could 
not sustain a septic system without a variance.   Without the lot boundary adjustment, one lot 
cannot be built on because of the presence of wetlands. The members of the Board reviewed 
the site plan.  The State of New Hampshire has also provided a permit for a driveway for each 
lot, but Filipi stated that he would be constructing a shared access - permitted by the State. Self 
asked how much frontage there is per lot and Filipi responded there is 160 feet of frontage for 
each lot.  A discussion continued regarding the lot lines and easement areas. Carbonneau 
explained the easement is owned by the second lot. Page asked for concerns from the Board. 
There were no further questions or comments from the Board.  Public hearing closed. 
 
Self made the motion to approve the boundary line adjustment between Tax Map 31, Lots 26 
and 27 adding 1.45 acres to Map 31, Lot 27 (resulting in a 4.25 acre lot) and deduct 1.35 acres 
from Map 31, Lot 26 (resulting in a 1.45 acre lot) off Old Homestead Highway and located in the 
Residence District. There was second to the motion by Goller, and all were in favor. Motion 
passed. 
 
Chair Page called for a short recess for conference with Town Counsel Kinyon at 6:30 p.m.  The 
Board retired to another conference room in Town Hall during the recess. 
 
Recess ended at 6:57 p.m. The members of the Board returned to the main hearing room to 
continue the meeting. Public Hearing opened at 6:59 p.m. 
 

3. Site Plan Review 
Zaremba Program Development, LLC wishes to construct a 9,100 square foot building to be used 
for retail sales.  The property is situated off W. Swanzey Rd. & Cobble Hill Rd. and shown as 
proposed Lot 51-2 on Tax Map 72, situated in the Business District.  The property is owned by 
Stephen and Joan Pappas.  Public hearing continued from October 24, 2013.  Public hearing 
opened. 

 
At the last meeting, the Board agreed that they needed more information and would continue 
the review of the application this evening in order to consider the following: 

 Direct testimony from WS Water Company engineering consultant(s) 

 Copy of the agreement between WS Water Company and Dollar General/Zaremba 

 Contribution by Dollar General/Zaremba toward extending sidewalk to Haley Heights on 
West Swanzey Road 

 Clarity from Attorney Kinyon on water tariff question regarding line extension/frontage 
requirement 

 
The Board reviewed documents in response to the information requested above: 

 Letter from Sarah G. Brown, President, West Swanzey Water Company stating that the 
Water Company, with improvements to the system, has “lead to our conditional offer of 
fire protection water for the Dollar General project.” 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 4 of 8 
 

 Letter from Engineering Consultant Bruce W. Lewis, Lewis Engineering, PLLC which 
stated that given certain improvements at the well pump house, “the water system will 
be able to support the fire flow demand, as long as both pumps are operational, which 
is the normal operational situation.” 

 A copy of an Agreement made as of August 6, 2013 between Zaremba Program 
Development, LLC and West Swanzey Water Company, Inc. to pay to West Swanzey 
Water Company, Inc. the sum of $25,000 within five (5) business days of the date a 
building permit is issued by the Town of Swanzey for the proposed 9,100 square foot 
retail store on the easterly side of New Hampshire Route 10, Tax Map 72, Lot 51 for the 
purpose of off-site improvements to West Swanzey Water Company, Inc. infrastructure. 

 
Zaremba representatives Matt Casey and Tony Basso began this portion of the meeting with 
reference to a new set of plans.  The only change was the sidewalk across the frontage. Casey 
presented to the Board a letter from Torphy Construction which estimated a cost of $7,403.00 
for 404 lineal feet of 5’ wide sidewalk. Casey went on to say that Dollar General will contribute 
$3,700 of the $7,403.00 for the additional sidewalk. 
 
For the record, the agreement between Zaremba and West Swanzey Water Company involves a 
contribution toward assisting in water suppression.  Casey said that it was confirmed that the 
integrity of the West Swanzey Water Company's infrastructure was inadequate without 
improvements regarding a valve at the pump house which would cost about $25,000.  Dollar 
General’s contribution is for improvements including the valve at the pump house. He noted 
that there is planned a separate water supply for the building from the water supply for fire 
suppression.  Page asked for abutters or members of the public who would like to comment.  
There were none. 
 
Chair Page closed the open hearing at 7:06 p.m.  
 
Board deliberations began.  
Page suggested that approval would be contingent upon completion of a sidewalk from East 
side of Cobble Hill Road to connect to Haley Heights sidewalk, which currently ends at the Haley 
Heights property line.    
 
There was a review of other offsite improvements such as tree removal.  Casey said there would 
be grading to open up sight lines on the west side of Route 10 on other property owned by 
Pappas. On the opposite corner on property owned by M. Faulkner, bushes will be removed 
according to Casey.  Casey said that sidewalk will be installed and curbing, as shown on the 
plans.   
 
Self noted the water issue was not a capacity issue of getting water from the ground.  The 
problem was regulating the flow from the pump houses. Fire Department can’t pump more than 
650 gallons a minute given the new valve. Self said that a vacuum could still be created if the fire 
department is hooked up to a hydrant, but the pump house won’t be sucked dry.  Chair Page 
said the Fire Chief will need to review the sprinkler design for the building and that the Fire Chief 
has veto power over the system.  Johnson wanted to know what happens down the line at 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 5 of 8 
 

Cutler School or residences if the Fire Department is pumping water for a fire. Self responded 
that the Water Company didn’t want to damage their pump house.  They weren’t concerned 
about lack of water at a faucet.  Air would be drawn into the system, but that would be a Water 
Company problem which is beyond the scope of the Planning Board’s authority. 

 
Self made a motion to approve the site plans as presented of Zaremba Program Development 
LLC with condition that a sidewalk be completed by Zaremba Program Development LLC from 
Cobble Hill Road to the Haley Heights existing sidewalk, and appropriate language for water 
easement be reviewed by Town Counsel and declared satisfactory and sprinkler design for the 
building be approved by the Swanzey Fire Chief, second by Goller, and all were in favor except 
Lerandeau who voted nay. The motion passed. 
 
Zaremba representatives left at 7:21 p.m. 

 
4. Modification to Previously Approved Site Plan 

Nissan of Keene requests modifications to its previously approved site plan.  The property is 
situated at 544 Monadnock Highway and is shown at Tax Map 2, Lot 5 situated in the Business 
District.  The property is owned by Gemica properties, LLC.  Public hearing opened. 
 
Dave Bergeron from Brickstone Land Consultants presented the modified plan to the Planning 
Board.  Bergeron noted that the original plan did not include land to the south and east.  Also, 
he noted that a previously approved addition has been modified to be a bit larger.  He explained 
that there are now eight new bays in the modified plan, with no separate car wash. He said 
detailing bays are planned for inside the building instead of a separate car wash.  Bergeron 
showed the modifications on the plan including drive-through bays for customers. The nature of 
the expansion is to accommodate the service bays that would be removed to allow for the drive-
through bays. 
 
Bergeron went on to describe a leach field being moved and new one constructed in southwest 
corner of the property after permit was received by New Hampshire Department of 
Environmental Services (DES).   
 
Bergeron then discussed the parking lot lights. The new plan calls for LED lights.  He said that the 
existing poles were removed from the property line to the south.  
 
Also there is planned a gasoline fuel tank for rear of the property.  Bergeron said they are 
working with the Town of Swanzey Fire Chief for location and construction of the tank. He noted 
that it is planned to be a 2,000 gallon capacity, above ground, double walled tank.  If inside tank 
should leak, there is a monitoring system between the two walls.  Plan has a fill area, single fill 
station on concrete pad.  Dumpsters will remain at the northeast corner of the property where 
they are currently. 
 
Bergeron showed the elevation views of the addition which has the same type of design of the 
existing building.  He noted that the ditch out of the retention pond needs to be cleaned up and 
he said that will be done.  Bergeron said the construction on the addition won’t start until next 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 6 of 8 
 

year.  Total building footprint, as planned, is 17,300 square feet which covers about 6% of the 
lot. Much of the lot is covered in pavement for storage of cars. Together, the building and paved 
area covers about 61% of the lot.  Bergeron also noted that the business is required to have 78 
parking spots, but there are a lot more spaces than that. 
 
Abutters were present: Joseph and Margaret (Peg) Antosiewicz and Michael and Carol McGrath. 
Peg Antosiewicz asked a question about the lights having an impact on their property.  Bergeron 
said LED lights are brighter with less wattage.  Light level recommendations worksheet was 
passed out by Bergeron regarding acceptable light illumination.  24 foot candles level at ground 
is “low” light.  Under the fixtures the light is in the 30’s but the average is more like 9 foot 
candles.  With LED fixtures, you can have multiple LEDs, which can be turned in different 
directions according to Bergeron.   He said that light levels should be zero at the property line.  
Antosiewicz asked if the height of the poles would be the same. Bergeron replied that the 
current poles were 20 feet and the plan for the new poles is 27 feet. With higher poles, you can 
use fewer fixtures.  Michael McGrath said the problem is that the Nissan property is eight feet 
higher than the abutting southern properties, which makes more light on their private property. 
Bergeron said he expects less light intrusion.  Skiba asked about other lights that could be 
looked at for comparison. It was noted that Rountree Ford has LED lights for comparison.  Goller 
asked about the light hood and where it will be located. Bergeron said the LED will be rotated, 
not the hood. 
 
A discussion ensued about the timing for shutting off the lights. McGrath said the lights used to 
shut off by 10:00 p.m.  Chair Page noted that some lights are kept on by businesses for security 
purposes. Bergeron offered that 25% of lights could be left on for security lighting.  Page asked 
how late the dealership is open on a week night.  Bergeron responded that Nissan is open until 
8:00 p.m. Monday through Friday.  Page asked if the lights could be wired for going off at 7 or 8 
p.m. on a timer.  The response from Bergeron was that could be done. 
 
Michael McGrath pointed out that with the new poles on 2 foot concrete base and the elevation 
of the Nissan property, the new lights will be at his roof line. His house is only 40 feet from the 
boundary.  Bergeron said the lights were moved into the Nissan lot by 60 to 70 feet away from 
the property line.   
 
Carol McGrath asked about a fence along the property line and Bergeron responded that the 
fence will be a six foot solid wood fence. Bergeron said he thought it would work best having the 
fence close to the property line.  Mr. McGrath said he thought the fence should be installed at 
the edge of the asphalt.   
 
McGrath also raised the issue of cars being parked on the grass near the road. He said that it 
makes it difficult to turn into and out of his driveway; the parked cars interfere with the line of 
sight. 
 
McGrath asked about drainage.  McGrath says that the rain runoff is pitched toward his 
property.  Bergeron said the runoff goes to a retention pond at rear of the property.  McGrath 
showed photos of erosion after the rain storm and he claimed the water is going around the 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 7 of 8 
 

retention pond.  The ditch goes across the back of his property and he would like to see it 
improved this year because it will flood in the Spring.  Water is coming off the Nissan parking lot 
into his property.  Bergeron said that the ditch needs to be worked on.  McGrath would like to 
see it done before the ground freezes.  McGrath said he would like Bergeron to review the 
property when there is water moving onto his property.  Bergeron said nothing is designed to be 
directed towards the McGrath house.  Page said if it rains on Monday, he will meet Bergeron 
there to consider the drainage conditions. 
 
Carbonneau asked about the fuel tank. Bergeron said the final design hasn’t been completed.  
She wanted to make sure No Parking signs are placed in front of the tank and the Town Fire 
Chief approves the design and location of the fuel tank.    
 
McGrath asked about snow stockpiled toward his home.  Bergeron said the snow will be 
stockpiled in the rear of the building.  Bergeron said that they created a swale to redirect water 
off the hill in back and around the retention pond.  So there is room for snow storage.  
 
Peg asked about trees being planted.  Bergeron said that from the parking lot to boundary line is 
20 feet.  They will plant arborvitae trees there. 
 
Recap by Page with list of conditions: 

- Lighting – lights along road are directed into the parking lot 
- At 8:00 pm 75% of the lights need to go off, 25% may remain on for security 

purposes. 
- Fence on the south side to be installed at the edge of the asphalt 
- Drainage cleaning to be completed this year including cleaning the swale that goes 

around the retention pond. Clean out brush and make it wider.  
- Cars are not to be parked on the grassy hillside in front of the dealership. 
- No Parking sign around fuel tank and work with Fire Chief to approve design. 

 
Public hearing closed. 
 
Motion by Goller to approve the modifications to a previously approved site plan for Nissan of Keene  at 
544 Monadnock Highway subject to the following conditions:  lights must be directed into the parking 
lot, an 8:00 p.m. curfew for 75% of the lights, allowing 25% of the lights to remain on for security, a 
fence to be erected on the south side of the property at the edge of the asphalt, drainage cleaning to be 
completed in 2013 including the swale that goes around the retention pond, cars will not be allowed to 
be parked on the grassy hillside in front of the dealership, and final approval for fuel tank from the 
Swanzey Fire Chief along with No Parking signs around the fuel tank. The motion was seconded by 
Lerandeau – no further discussion, all were in favor.  Motion passed. 
 
B.  DISCUSSIONS/OTHER BUSINESS – 

Meeting Schedule for November and December 
Carbonneau reminded the Planning Board that the second meeting normally scheduled will fall on 
Thanksgiving and therefore will not be held and if the Board decided to meet for the second meeting in 
December that would be December 26th. The only other meeting is December 12, 2013. 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
November 14, 2013 
Page 8 of 8 
 

 
Self made a motion to have one meeting in November which was held this evening and one in 
December which will be held on December 12, 2013. The motion was seconded by Colby, all 
were in favor. Motion passed. 
 

Southwest Region Planning Commission (SWRPC) – Route 12 corridor study 
Carbonneau told the Board about Southwest Region Planning Commission conducting a Route 12 
corridor study. She suggested that Selectmen Colby might be interested to be on the committee as well 
as the Swanzey Police Chief and DPW Director.  If anyone else is interested she asked to be informed. 
 

Route 10 Bridge in Winchester 
Carbonneau informed the Board that reconstruction of the Route 10 Bridge in Winchester has gone out 
to bid and work will start soon.  She said the plan is to raise the road nine feet higher.  New bridge will 
be to west of existing bridge.  She also said the traffic will not be relocated onto Westport Village Road.  
 
Motion to adjourn was made by Lerandeau, seconded by Fuerderer, with all in favor. Motion passed.  
Adjournment at 8:12p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 
 
 


